T.C. YEDITEPE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE

INVESTIGATION OF GSTP1 PROMOTOR REGION METHYLATION IN PERIPHERAL BLOODS OF PROSTATE CANCER PATIENTS

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY THESIS SEMA AKYÜREK, MSc

İSTANBUL – 2019

T.C.

YEDITEPE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE

T.C.

INVESTIGATION OF GSTP1 PROMOTOR REGION METHYLATION IN PERIPHERAL BLOODS OF PROSTATE CANCER PATIENTS

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY THESIS

SEMA AKYÜREK, MSc

SUPERVISOR PROF. DR. TURGAY İSBİR

İSTANBUL – 2019

T.C.

THESIS APPROVAL FORM

Institute	: Yeditepe University Institute of Health Sciences			
Programme	: Molecular Medicine			
Title of the Thesis	: Investigation of GSTP1 promotor region methylation peripheral bloods of prostate cancer patient	ın		
Owner of the Thesis	: Sema AKYÜREK			
Examination Date	: 18.07.2019			

This study have approved as a Doctorate Thesis in regard to content and quality by the Jury.

	Title, Name-Surname (Institution)	(Signature)
Chair of the Jury	Prof.Dr.Turgay İsbir	
Supervisor:		6, 41, 12
		V
Member/Examiner:	Prof.Dr.Arzu ERGEN	
		47/
Member/Examiner:	Prof.Dr.Bedia ÇAKMAKOĞLU	1 AVA
Member/Examiner:	Prof.Dr.Hakan EKMEKÇİ	
		Juff
Member/Examiner:	Prof.Dr.Zeynep GÜNGÖR	111 -
		m
		1

APPROVAL

This thesis has been deemed by the jury in accordance with the relevant articles of Yeditepe University Graduate Education and Examinations Regulation and has been approved by Administrative Board of Institute with decision dated 31.02.2019... and numbered 2.019/11-13

Prof. Dr. Bayram YILMAZ Director of Institute of Health Sciences

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person nor material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree except where due acknowledgment has been made in the text.

Sema AKYÜREK

I dedicate this thesis to my lovely daughter Defne AKYÜREK

and

my better half Mustafa AKYÜREK

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank to my thesis advisor, Professor Doctor Turgay İSBİR for his support. He made me become a better and patient scientist.

I also would like to thank to Associate Professor Doctor Müslüm AKGÖZ, the head of Bioanalysis Laboratory of TÜBİTAK UME for his suggestions and support during my studies in the laboratory.

Finally, I gratefully thank to my daughter, Defne AKYÜREK and my better half, Mustafa AKYÜREK for their endless patience, support and encouragement during this study.

This study was supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) project number 214S321.

July 2019

Sema AKYÜREK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

THESIS APPROVAL FORM	ii
DECLARATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST of TABLES	viii
LIST of FIGURES	ix
LIST of SYMBOLS and ABBREVIATIONS	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
ÖZET	xiii
1. INTRODUCTION and PURPOSE	1
2. GENERAL INFORMATION	4
2.1. DNA Methylation	4
2.2. ctDNA	8
2.3. Prostate Cancer	8
2.4. DNA Methylation Based Biomarkers in Prostate Cancer	11
2.5. Promotor Methylation Detection Methods	13
2.5.1. Bisulfite modification	13
2.5.2. Methylation sensitive PCR and HRM analyses	14
2.5.3. ddPCR	15
3.MATERIAL and METHODS	17
3.1. Selection of Patients and Definition	17
3.2. Materials and Devices	17
3.2.1. Consumables	17
3.2.2. Equipment list	17
3.3. Methods	18
3.3.1. DNA isolation from blood	18
3.3.2. Measurement of purity and quantity of isolated DNA	19
3.3.3. Bisulfite modification of the isolated DNA	19
3.3.4. Detection of DNA methylation	19
3.3.4.1. Primer selection and verification	20
3.3.4.2. Nested PCR	22
3.3.4.3. MS-HRM analysis	23
3.3.4.4. ddPCR	24
3.3.5. Statistical Analysis	25

4. RESULTS 26

4.1. Demographic Data of Working Group	26
4.2. qPCR optimisation	27
4.2.1. Optimisation of MgCl ₂ concentration	28
4.2.2. Optimisation of annealing temperature	31
4.2.3. qPCR efficiency	35
4.3. MS-HRM analysis using clinical samples	40
4.3.1. MS-HRM analyses results of Set 1	40
4.3.2. MS-HRM analyses results of Set 2	41
4.4. Optimisation of ddPCR	42
4.4.1. Optimisation of primer concentration for ddPCR	42
4.4.2. ddPCR linearity	44
4.5. ddPCR analyses using clinical samples	47
4.5.1. ddPCR analyses of Set1	47
4.5.2. ddPCR analyses of Set2	48
5. DISCUSSION and CONCLUSION	50
6. REFERENCES	53
7. CURRICULUM VITAE	57

LIST of TABLES

Table 1. New prostate cancer grading system	11
Table 2. DNA methylation based prostate cancer biomarkers	12
Table 3. Commercial kits and other consumables	17
Table 4. List of equipment and software	18
Table 5. GSTP1 gene info	21
Table 6. Primers Sequences	21
Table 7. Cycling conditions for Veriti thermal cycler for nested PCR	23
Table 8. Preparation of Nested PCR reaction mix	23
Table 9. Cycling conditions for Roche LC480 MS-HRM analysis	24
Table 10. Preparation of Roche HRM reaction mix	24
Table 11. Preparation of ddPCR EvaGreen reaction mix	25
Table 12. Cycling conditions for BioRad's C1000 Touch Thermal Cycler	25
Table 13. Demographic characteristics of the study population	26
Table 14. MgCl ₂ optimisation-comparison of Tm and Cq values	
Table 15. Cq values obtained under different annealing temperatures	31
Table 16. qPCR efficiency information for GSTP1 assays	35
Table 17. Linearity of unmethylated GSTP1 assay	45
Table 18. Linearity of methylated GSTP1 assay	47
Table 19. Copy number calculation of samples in Set 1	48
Table 20. Copy number calculation of samples in Set 2	49

LIST of FIGURES

Figure 1.Methylation and demethylation of cytosine	5
Figure 2. DNA methylation pathways	6
Figure 3. DNA methylation and cancer	7
Figure 4. Prostate gland ⁽²⁷⁾	9
Figure 5. Gleason grading scale ⁽²⁷⁾	11
Figure 6. Bisulfite modification of DNA	14
Figure 7. ddPCR workflow ⁽⁴³⁾	16
Figure 8. GSTP1 gene CpG Island Graph	22
Figure 9. Melting profiles belong to methylated and unmethylated GSTP1 controls	27
Figure 10. MgCl ₂ optimisation for methylated GSTP1 assay-melt curves	29
Figure 11. MgCl ₂ optimisation for methylated GSTP1 assay- amplification curve	29
Figure 12. MgCl2 optimisation for unmethylated GSTP1 assay-melt curve	30
Figure 13. MgCl ₂ optimisation for unmethylated GSTP1 assay- amplification curve .	30
Figure 14.Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 57°C	32
Figure 15. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 57°C	32
Figure 16. Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 60°C	33
Figure 17. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 60°C	33
Figure 18. Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 62°C	34
Figure 19. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 62°C	34
Figure 20. PCR Efficiency of GSTP1 methylated assay	35
Figure 21. PCR Efficiency of GSTP1 unmethylated assay	36
Figure 22. Primer optimisation-Melting curves and melting temperatures	37
Figure 23. Primer optimisation-Amplification curves and Cq values	38
Figure 24. PCR bias caused observed in multiplex PCR	39
Figure 25. PCR bias corrected optimising primer concentration	40
Figure 26. Melting profiles belong to GSTP1 methylated control	41
Figure 27. Melting profiles belong to Set 2	41
Figure 28. Melting profile of non-specific amplification and GSTP1 methylation	42
Figure 29. Methylated GSTP1 assay primer optimisation	43
Figure 30. Multiplex ddPCR primer optimisation	44
Figure 31. ddPCR efficiency experiment for unmethylated GSTP1 assay	45
Figure 32. Calibration curve and r ² of Unmethylated GSTP1 assay	46

Figure 33. ddPCR efficiency experiment for methylated GSTP1 assay	46
Figure 34. Calibration curve and r ² of methylated GSTP1 assay	47
Figure 35. Representative sample for GSTP1 methylated sample from Set1	48
Figure 36. Representative sample for GSTP1 methylated sample from Set2	49



LIST of SYMBOLS and ABBREVIATIONS

bp	: Base Pair
cfDNA	: Cell Free DNA
CpG	: Cytosine-phosphate-Guanine
ctDNA	: Circulating Tumour DNA
ddPCR	: Droplet Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction
DNA	: Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DNMT	: DNA methyltransferase
DRE	: Digital Rectal Examination
gDNA	: Genomic DNA
GSTP1	: Glutatyon S-transferaz P1
HRM	: High Resolution Melting
MI	: Methylation Independent
MS	: Methylation Specific
MS-HRM	: Methylation Sensitive High Resolution Melting
MSP	: Methylation Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction
NCBI	: National Center for Biotechnology Information
PC	: Prostate Cancer
PCR	: Polymerase Chain Reaction
PSA	: Prostate Specific Antigen
qPCR	: Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
TET	: Ten-Eleven Translocation methyl-cytosine dioxygenases enzymes

ABSTRACT

Akyürek, S. Investigation of GSTP1 Promotor Region Methylation in Peripheral Bloods of Prostate Cancer Patients. Yeditepe University Health Sciences Institute, Department of Molecular Medicine. Doctorate Thesis. İstanbul, 2019.

In this project, it was investigated whether it is possible to analyse the promoter region methylation of GSTP1 gene in peripheral blood. For this purpose, DNA was isolated from peripheral blood of prostate cancer patients and the promoter region methylation of GSTP1 gene was examined by using the obtained isolate. After bisulfite modification of the isolated DNAs, Methylation Sensitive High-Resolution Melting (MS-HRM) was performed using primer pairs designed for methylated and unmethylated DNA sequences. As a result, when MS-HRM method applied to the peripheral blood DNA isolates, GSTP1 promoter methylation could not detected due to due to the presence of excessive amount of unmethylated leukocyte gDNA. The same DNA isolates were examined by ddPCR, which is known to be one of the most accurate and reliable tools due to its high sensitivity and specificity and 2 of 65 samples were detected as GSTP1 methylated. In this study, the third method used to detect GSTP1 promoter methylation was Nested MS-PCR method which consists of Nested PCR and MS-HRM. The purpose of this method is to increase the number of copies of methylated GSTP1 fragments released from the tumour cells which has very low concentration compared to unmethylated GSTP1 fragments of leukocyte gDNA and to increase the sensitivity and specificity of the MS-HRM to be performed to detect methylation. In the first step, a 124bp region determined around the transcription start site of the GSTP1 gene was amplified by nested PCR using methylation independent (MI) primers. The resulting PCR products were diluted and MS-HRM was performed using methylation specific (MS) primers. With this method, methylation was detected in the promoter region of GSTP1 gene in 9 of 65 samples. Since it is not possible to quantify with qPCR without using control material, ddPCR performed with nested PCR products to quantify the methylated GSTP1 fragments. As a result of this study, although the sample could not be collected in accordance with ctDNA studies, it was shown that it is possible to detect promoter region methylation using appropriate methods.

Key words: Methylation, GSTP1, Nested-MSP, ddPCR, Peripheral Blood

ÖZET

Akyürek, S. Prostat Kanserli Hastaların Periferal Kanlarında GSTP1 Promotor Bölge Metilasyonunun Araştırılması. Yeditepe Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Moleküler Tıp Anabilim Dalı. Doktora Tezi. İstanbul, 2019.

Bu projede, periferal kanda GSTP1 genine ait promotör bölge metilasyon analizinin mümkün olup olamayacağı araştırılmıştır. Bu amaçla, prostat kanserli hastalardan alınan periferal kanlardan DNA izolasyonu yapılmış ve elde edilen izolat kullanılarak GSTP1 genine ait promotor bölge metilasyonu incelenmiştir. İzole edilen DNA'ların bisülfit çevirim işleminden sonra metile ve metile olmayan DNA dizileri için tasarlanan primer çiftleri ve metilasyona özgü polimeraz zincir tepkimesi (MS-HRM) gerçekleştirilmiştir. Sonuç olarak bu metot ile periferik kandan elde edilen DNA izolatı incelendiğinde, lökosit gDNA'sının içerdiği yoğun miktarda metile olmayan DNA varlığı nedeniyle, GSTP1 genine ait promotor bölge metilasyonunun tespit edilemediği gözlenmiştir. Aynı DNA izolatları, yüksek hassasiyeti ve özgünlüğü sayesinde en doğru ve güvenilir araçlardan biri olarak bilinen ddPCR ile incelenmiş ve 65 adet örnekten 2 tanesinde GSTP1 geni promotor bölgesi metile olarak saptanabilmiştir. Bu çalışmada, GSTP1 promotor metilasyonunu saptayabilmek için kullanılan üçüncü metot ise nested PZT ve ardından MS-HRM yöntemlerini içeren kantitatif Nested-MS-HRM metodudur. Bu metodun kullanılmasındaki amaç lökosit gDNA'sına ait metile olmayan GSTP1 fragmentleri ile kıyaslandığında konsantrasyonu çok düşük olan tümörlü hücrelere ait metile GSTP1 fragmentlerinin kopya sayısının arttırılması ve metilasyonu saptamak için gerçekleştirilecek MS-HRM' in hassasiyetinin ve özgünlüğünün arttırılmasıdır. İlk basamakta nested PZT ile GSTP1 geninin transkripsiyon başlangıç noktası civarında belirlenen, 124bp büyüklüğünde bir bölge metilasyondan bağımsız primerler kullanılarak çoğaltılmıştır. Elde edilen PZT ürünleri seyreltilmiş ve metilasyona özgü primerler kullanılarak MS-HRM gerçekleştirilmiştir. Bu yöntem ile toplamda 65 örnekten 9 tanesinde GSTP1 geni promotor bölgesinde metilasyon varlığı saptanmıştır. qPZT ile kontrol materyali kullanılmadan miktar tayini yapmak mümkün olamayacağı için nested PZT ile çoğaltılan örnekler ddPZT ile çalışılmış ve miktar tayinleri yapılmıştır. Bu çalışmanın sonucunda ctDNA çalışmalarına uygun olarak örnek toplanamamış olsa da uygun yöntemler kullanılarak promotor bölge metilasyonunun saptanabileceği gösterilmiştir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Metilasyon, GSTP1, Nested-MSP, ddPCR, Periferal Kan,

1. INTRODUCTION and PURPOSE

The genome, which makes each individual unique, contains the information necessary for an organism to form and to survive. In humans, a copy of the entire genome consisting of 3 million base pairs is located in the nucleus of the cells. The genome carries the nucleotide sequences that carry the information to form the organism and the chemical changes controlling the flow of this information ¹.

The epigenetic word "on genetics" refers to the mechanisms involved in the regulation of gene expression by controlling the flow of information carried in nucleotides, without causing changes in the DNA sequence ². DNA methylation, histone modifications, chromatin modifying complexes and microRNAs are epigenetic mechanisms involved in the regulation of gene expression ³. DNA methylation is the most researched epigenetic mechanism ⁴. Methylation refers to the binding of a methyl group covalently to the 5-carboxyl end of the Cytosine base in the Cytosine-phosphate-Guanine (CpG) binary-nucleotides on the DNA sequence ^{5,6}.

In the formation process of each individual, all the methylation patterns in the gametes are deleted and then the individual pattern is regenerated by means of enzymes. The new methylation pattern formed during the embryo period is carried in each cell with a core 1,7 .

The methylation pattern in healthy cells can be transferred to the newly formed cell with high accuracy and it is known that these patterns are impaired in aging and disease processes. Studies have shown that DNA methylation patterns have changed in heart diseases, diabetes and neurological diseases, particularly cancer 6,8 .

When tumour tissues were examined, hypomethylation on genome basis and hypermethylation on gene basis were observed 5,6 . Hypomethylation and hypermethylation are methylation mechanisms that cause changes in the methylation pattern of cells. Hypomethylation occurs on the genome, while hypermethylation is gene-specific in the promoter regions of the gene. Both mechanisms play a role in the formation of cancerous cells. As a result of hypomethylation, the formation of protooncogenes leads to tumour formation. The genes involved in the cell cycle and DNA repair mechanisms and the inactivation of tumour suppressor genes by hypermethylation also cause tumour formation 2 .

These changes in DNA methylation enable them to be used as, non-invasive biomarkers because they can be detected in blood and other body fluids, because they can be used to diagnose diseases and to monitor the effectiveness of the treatment ^{2,9}.

When cancer is diagnosed in early period, it is possible to treat with surgical intervention and in advanced cases there is no response to surgical intervention. Therefore, early diagnosis of cancer is of great importance for prolonging life. It is unfortunately not possible to detect cancer at an early stage with tests such as colonoscopy, mammography and cervical cytology, which are approved tests in cancer diagnosis. However, studies have shown that early detection of cancer is possible by analysing ctDNAs (circulating tumour DNA) released from tumour tissues to body fluids by means of apoptosis and necrosis ¹⁰. But the detection of the ctDNA is challenging due to the amount of ctDNA (~ 0.01 to 5 ng ctDNA per mL plasma, ctDNA relative to cfDNA (cell free DNA) ranges from < 0.1% to 10%.) and high fragmentation ¹¹. Methylation studies on ctDNA has been studied in many of the cancer types and it is a promising alternative method on the diagnosis and prognosis of the patients ¹². In order to perform methylation studies on ctDNAs, firstly, ctDNAs must be isolated from blood. The most important point to be considered at this stage is to prevent the lysis of leukocytes and to prevent contamination of ctDNAs with large amount of leukocyte DNA which can lead to false negative results. To avoid lysis of the leukocytes commercial tubes designed to prevent cell lysis can be used or peripheral blood can be centrifuged at 1600 x g for 10 min at 4°C¹³.

In clinical trials, sample collection in accordance with the research is the most important step of the clinical studies. Therefore, clinical samples which are commonly difficult to access should be evaluated in the best way. In this study, in case of compulsory situations, even if the samples were not prepared in accordance with ctDNA analysis, it was aimed to answer the questions whether this samples are suitable for methylation analysis and can methylation be detected by using different methods and whether information can be obtained about tumour size by quantifying the methylated GSTP1? For this purpose, peripheral bloods of prostate cancer patients were collected.

Prostate cancer is the most common type of cancer diagnosed in middle-aged men, living in developed and developing countries. It is known that the probability of developing prostate cancer increases with advancing age. While this probability is 0.6% in the 35-44 age range, it is 9.7%, 32.7%, 36.3% and 16,8%, in the 45-54, 55-64, 65-74,

75-84 age ranges, respectively. The probability of cancer development in prostate tissue, which is clinically important during the lifetime of a man, is 17.8% ¹⁴.

Prostate cancer, which ranks second among cancer-related deaths, is a disease that can be effectively treated by retropubic prostatectomy if it has not spread to other organs. Early diagnosis is important because prostate cancer is curable. Today, "PSA in serum" (prostate-specific antigen) is used as a biomarker in the clinic for early diagnosis and follow-up of the treatment process. However, since there is no definite cut-off value for serum PSA value, it is not clear whether a person has prostate cancer or not by looking at the PSA value. PSA is not a cancer-specific biomarker. Serum PSA levels are also high in patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia. These data indicate that PSA is a biomarker with low selectivity and specificity ¹⁵.

As a result of the studies, it has been shown that methylation observed in the promoter regions of related genes is a potential biomarker that can be used in early diagnosis of prostate cancer and follow-up of the treatment process ¹⁶. Methylation observed in the GSTP1 gene, which is responsible for detoxification and protecting cells from DNA damage, is considered as a potential biomarker that can be used in the diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer ¹⁵. Therefore, in this study we aimed to find answers to our questions using peripheral bloods of prostate cancer patients and investigating promotor methylation status of GSTP1 gene.

2. GENERAL INFORMATION

The human genome consists of Adenine, Cytosine, Guanine and Thymine nucleotides, and the sequence of the genome is the same in almost all cells of the individual. It makes each individual unique, contains the information necessary for an organism to form and to survive. In humans, nucleus of the cells contains a copy of the entire genome consisting of 3 million base pairs. The genome carries the nucleotide sequences that carry the information to form the organism and the chemical changes controlling the flow of this information ^{1,17}.

While the genome is the same in almost all cells of an individual, the epigenome shows significant changes in different cells depending on time and environmental factors. Epigenetic mechanisms create the Epigenome through a number of chemical changes without causing any change in the genome. These chemical changes on the genome, alter the flow of information in the nucleotides by regulating gene expression ^{17,18}.

The epigenetic mechanisms that make up the epigenome are chemical changes that occur either on the nucleotides that make up the genome or on the histone proteins that allow the genome to be packed and fit into the cell ¹⁷. DNA methylation, histone modifications, chromatin modifying complexes and microRNAs are epigenetic mechanisms involved in the regulation of gene expression ³. DNA methylation is the most researched epigenetic mechanism ⁴.

2.1 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation which is essential for regulating tissue specific gene expression, X chromosome inactivation and silencing retroviral elements ¹⁹, refers to the binding of a methyl group covalently to the 5-carboxyl end of the Cytosine base in the Cytosine-phosphate-Guanine (CpG) dinucleotides on the DNA sequence ^{5,6}.

Methylation of cytosine is a covalent modification that occurs after the DNA synthesis by transfer of a methyl group to the carbon-5 position of the cytosine via enzymes from the methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine. Those enzymes are called as DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) family enzymes. There are two different subfamilies of DNMTs: DNMT3 and DNMT1^{17,18,20–22}. DNMT3 subfamily consist of DNMT3a and DNMT3b enzymes and those enzymes are responsible for de novo methylation patterns in early development. After establishment of the de novo

methylation on one strand of the double helix, DNMT1 copy methylation patterns to the opposite strand during DNA replication. In some cases, like a failure on copying the methylation pattern to the other strand, cytosine methylation needs to be erased. This is called as demethylation and it occurs during the early development of embryo by passive or active demethylation. Passive demethylation occurs during the mitosis via reducing the two daughter cells by half which has failure in the copied methylation patterns. In active demethylation there are two hypotheses: Base excision repair and enzymatic demethylation. According to the base excision repair cytosines carrying methyl tag are excised from the genome and replaced with cytosines. Enzymatic demethylation mechanism involves "ten-eleven translocation methyl-cytosine dioxygenases enzymes" (TET), which convert methyl cytosine to hydroxymethyl cytosine and initiate a series of reactions in which we obtain unmodified cytosine ^{17,20}.

Figure 1 and Figure 2 shows the enzymes used in the methylation and demethylation processes.



Figure 1.Methylation and demethylation of cytosine



Figure 2. DNA methylation pathways

When tumour tissues were examined, hypomethylation and hypermethylation which cause changes in the methylation pattern of cells observed. While hypomethylation occurs on genome basis and hypermethylation occurs on gene basis 5,6 . Both mechanisms play a role in the formation of cancerous cells. As a result of hypomethylation, the formation of proto-oncogenes leads to tumour formation. The genes involved in the cell cycle and DNA repair mechanisms and the inactivation of tumour suppressor genes by hypermethylation also cause tumour formation 2 .

Hypermethylation in the human genome is most commonly observed in regions called CpG islands which presents in the promoter regions. CpG islands are DNA sequences which are more than 200bp length and have more than 50% CG content ²⁰. CpG islands of genes are unmethylated with the exception of imprinted genes and genes on the inactive X chromosome ⁶. DNA methylation controls gene expression in eukaryotes. If a promotor region get methylated it means that there will be an inhibition on expression of this gene ²³. Promotor methylation of CpG islands regulates the differentiation and development ¹⁹

In the whole genome high resolution DNA methylation analysis with primary human fibroblast cell line, 4.25% of total cytosines found in genomic DNA, 67.7% of CpG dinucleotides were found methylated and 99.98% of DNA methylation was found to be CpG dinucleotides. In a similar study with human embryonic stem cells, 5.83% of all cytosines and 82.7% of CpG dinucleotides were found to be methylated and 25% of all methylations were observed in regions other than CpG²⁴. In light of this information, it is possible to speak of a methylation pattern of each cell. It is known that the methylation pattern in cells, the frequency of methylation of cytosines on a gene, is transferred to the new cell with high accuracy during mitosis while the transfer of the pattern is impaired in aging and disease processes ⁶. Abnormal gene methylation patterns seen in many complex diseases such as cancer, diabetes and neurological disorders are biomarkers that can be used in the diagnosis, course and follow-up of the treatment process. Therefore, accurate determination of gene methylation patterns is of great importance for the diagnosis of diseases and the follow-up of the response to treatment ⁶. Figure 3 shows the relation between methylation and cancer.



Figure 3. DNA methylation and cancer

2.2 ctDNA

Changes in DNA methylation can be detected using liquid biopsies such as urine, blood, saliva etc. Cell free DNA (cfDNA) that are shed from normal cells and circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA) shed from tumour cells are non-invasive blood-based biomarkers that have potential for detection, diagnosis and to monitor the cancer ²⁵. The difference to be expected to observe between normal cells and tumour cells is that normal cells have unmethylated and tumour cells have methylated promotor region ^{2,9}. While the concentration of cfDNAs found in the bloodstream of healthy individuals is very low, there is a significant increase in the concentrations of cfDNAs due to the release of ctDNA from the necrotic and apoptotic cells of cancer tissue into the bloodstream during the tumour formation ^{9,26}.

There are many reasons why liquid biopsies are potentially replacing the standard biopsy. The first reason is biopsy is a surgical procedure and risky than taking the blood sample. It is not always possible to get sample to monitor the diseases during the treatment, for some types of tumours it is difficult even sometimes it is not possible to take the samples. Tumour tissues have intra tumoral heterogeneity so it may not give same information in each case ²⁵.

Studies have shown that early detection of cancer is possible by analysing ctDNAs (circulating tumour DNA) released from tumour tissues to body fluids by means of apoptosis and necrosis ¹⁰. But the detection of the ctDNA is challenging due to the amount of ctDNA (~ 0.01 to 5 ng ctDNA per mL plasma, ctDNA relative to cfDNA (cell free DNA) ranges from < 0.1% to 10%.) and high fragmentation ¹¹. Methylation studies on ctDNA has been studied in many of the cancer types and it is a promising alternative method on the diagnosis and prognosis of the patients ¹². In order to perform methylation studies on ctDNAs, firstly, ctDNAs must be isolated from blood. The most important point to be considered at this stage is to prevent the lysis of leukocytes and to prevent contamination of ctDNAs with large amount of leukocyte DNA which can lead to false negative results. To avoid lysis of the leukocytes commercial tubes can be used designed to prevent cell lysis or as soon as peripheral blood is drawn, blood can be centrifuged at 1600 x g for 10 min at 4°C ¹³.

2.3 Prostate Cancer

The prostate is a gland about the size of a ping-pong ball and is part of the reproductive system in men. The prostate gland surrounds the urethra and takes place below the bladder, in front of the rectum. The prostate produces the fluid called as

seminal fluid that protects and support the sperm and helps transport of the sperm. Figure 4 shows the structure of reproductive system in men ²⁷.



Figure 4. Prostate gland (27)

Prostate cancer is the second most common cancer type among men and a major cause of 1-2% of cancer deaths in men. It occurs in the developed world more frequently as a result of lifestyle and environmental risk factors ^{28,29}.

Prostate cancer is thought to be multifactorial disease that is affected by genetic and environmental conditions. The probability of developing prostate cancer increases with age. Those with a history of cancer among first-degree relatives, are 3.5 times more likely to develop prostate cancer ³⁰. Smoking cigarette, being overweight are also risk factors to develop prostate cancer ²⁹.

Prostate cancer generally has no symptoms in early phases, but it can be detected by screening. While prostate cancer can remain latent in the body without any harm, in advanced cases, individuals may experience weak or interrupted urine flow. The other signs of the advanced cases are inability to urinate, starting or stopping urination difficultly, frequently urination need, blood in the urine; or pain or burning during urination. On the other hand those symptoms can also be seen with benign conditions, that's why they are not specific to prostate cancer²⁹.

In the Classification of the PC, Gleason score is the recommended methodology. Gleason score is a grading system to get information about aggressiveness of prostate cancer. Treatment options can be chosen according to this score. Most of the prostate cancer has a Grade of 3 or higher. If the grade is higher it means that cancer can grow and spread quickly. Tumours generally have different grade of tumour cells. In this case Gleason score can be written as 3 + 4 = 7, it means that the highest amount of tumour cells is grade 3 and the next one is grade 4, and the total Gleason score for this biopsy is 7. If the Gleason score is less than 3, it means that the type of the cancer is slowly growing cancer and cells look like normal cells. If it is 7, intermediate risk for aggressive prostate cancer. Scores 8 and higher means that the cancer is high grade and it can spread more rapidly. Gleason grading scale is given in Figure 5 and new grading system explanation is given in Table 1. The Gleason score is very important to understand the behaviour of PC. But other factors are also used to determine the stage of prostate cancer like PSA level, rectal examination. Physician can understand if cancer is found on both sides of the prostate or not and has spread outside or not. Screening for prostate cancer involves digital rectal examination (DRE) and prostate specific antigen (PSA) blood test. As a result of DRE, physician can determine if the prostate gland is enlarged, has lumps, if there are any hard areas or not. PSA is a substance, produced by both normal and cancerous prostate cells. In case of prostate cancer and prostate disease, the concentration of the PSA in blood often increases. The normal concentration of PSA is likely to be 0-1,5ng/mL. Higher levels of PSA can be a sign of prostate cancer but also benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and prostatitis. That's why it is important to track PSA levels to see if it is rising in time or not. With its low sensitivity and specificity around 75% ³¹, PSA cannot be used as a biomarker for PC. It can only give information about prostate cancer possibility ^{15,27}.



Figure 5. Gleason grading scale ⁽²⁷⁾

Table 1	. New	prostate	cancer	grading	system
---------	-------	----------	--------	---------	--------

Traditional Gleason Score	New Grading System
Gleason $3+3=6$	GRADE 1
Gleason $3+4 = 7$	GRADE 2
Gleason $4+3=7$	GRADE 3
Gleason 4+4= 8	GRADE 4
Gleason 9-10	GRADE 5

2.4 DNA Methylation Based Biomarkers in Prostate Cancer

Like other cancer types prostate cancer development also involves genetic alterations that cause normal cells to transform abnormal cells. Detection and identification of those genetic alterations can be used in early diagnosis of PC. DNA-based biomarkers, such as DNA methylation biomarkers, are very advantageous because of their high stability, accessibility and easy analysis. ³².

In early tumorigenesis promotor methylation occurs and it effects key regulatory genes. It is known that it is possible to detect one or more promotor methylation in tumour tissues. Hence promotor methylation might have clinically important information on detection and follow-up the prostate cancer 32 .

The most studied DNA methylation-based biomarkers that found to be methylated and their functions are given in Table 2.

Gene	Function	Significance in	Biomarker	References
Altered		Prostate Cancer		
GSTP1	Detoxification and	Methylated in all	Early detection,	33,34
	protection of the cell from	stages of the of disease	diagnosis,	
	DNA Damage		prognosis	
APC	Tumour suppressor gene	Methylated in all	Early detection,	33,34
	(cell migration and	stages of the of disease	diagnosis,	
	adhesion)		prognosis	
RASSF1A	Tumour suppressor gene	Methylated in early	Early detection	33
	(cell cycle and apoptosis)	stages of disease		
RARβ2	Hormone receptor (cell	Methylated in all	Early detection,	34,35
	growth and differentiation)	stages of the of disease	diagnosis,	
			prognosis	
PTGS2	Prostaglandin biosynthesis	Methylated in all	Early detection,	34
		stages of the of disease	diagnosis,	
			prognosis	
CD44	Cell to cell interaction, cell	Methylated in all	Early detection,	36
	migration and adhesion	stages of the of disease	diagnosis,	
			prognosis	

Table 2. DNA methylation based prostate cancer biomarkers

Glutathione-S-transferase P1 (GSTP1) is the most frequently methylated gene, in prostate cancer, out of large number of methylated genes ³⁴. GSTP1 comprise a family of enzymes involved in protection cells from electrophilic metabolites of carcinogens and detoxification of cells from oxidants ^{15,32}. It is shown that GSTP1 promotor methylation accurately discriminates normal or hyperplastic prostate tissue and prostatic adenocarcinoma ³³.

Reasons for being a potential DNA-methylation based biomarker for prostate cancer are ¹⁵ :

• With its high specificity for prostate cancer >90% GSTP1 is a better biomarker than PSA (~20%)

- GSTP1 promotor methylation levels can differentiate prostate cancer from other prostatic diseases
- Quantification of the GSTP1 promotor region gives information about different stages of the prostate cancer
- It is possible to use serum, plasma or urine to measure the promotor methylation (non-invasive)

Although GSTP1 has higher specificity than PSA, it is known that promotor methylation can also occur in other types of cancers. As a result, we cannot say that GSTP1 is 100% specific biomarker to PC. Using other methylation biomarkers alongside GSTP1 is a better way to improve the specificity and sensitivity of the measurement. In previous studies it is showed that using 4-gene panel APC, RASSF1A, RAR β 2 and GSTP1 it was possible to discriminate cancer cells from normal cells at 86% sensitivity and 89% specificity ¹⁵.

In methylation analysis sample type, the timing of sample collection (before or after treatment) and methods that will be used to measure the methylation are also very important. When different sample types, whole blood, serum/plasma, used to measure GSTP1 methylation, it is observed that sensitivity of the GSTP1 decreased in whole blood ¹⁵.

2.5 Promotor Methylation Detection Methods

Promotor methylation can be detected using non- bisulfite and bisulfite methods. Non-bisulfite methods use methylation sensitive restriction endonucleases and Southern blot analyses or PCR detection. This method generally has limitation because of the cleavage sites. Bisulfite methods can be a solution for this limitation. Methods involves bisulfite modification allow quantitative determination of promotor methylation ³⁷.

2.5.1 Bisulfite modification

DNA methylation information is lost after the PCR amplification. To keep the methylation information during PCR, DNA must be modified with bisulfite ³⁸. Bisulfite modification occurs on the single strand of the DNA. That's why the first step of the modification is denaturation of the DNA into single strands. After denaturation the following reactions are, reaction of bisulfite with cytosine to give cytosine bisulphite derivative, hydrolytic deamination to get uracil sulphonate derivative, removal of sulphonate and to get uracil and the last reaction is PCR. As a result of modification of cytosines to uracils non-complementary strands occur. Resulted DNA's can be

amplified either using different sets of primers that are specific to differentiated DNA strands or primers designed for high resolution melting analyses. After PCR, uracils amplified as thymines, but 5mC are amplified as cytosine ³⁹. Figure 6 shows bisulfite conversion of DNA.



Figure 6. Bisulfite modification of DNA

There are many PCR-Based methods for the detection of promotor methylation. Sanger sequencing and pyrosequencing, methylation specific PCR, quantitative methylation specific PCR, methylation sensitive high-resolution melting (MS-HRM).

2.5.2 Methylation sensitive PCR and HRM analyses

MS-PCR is a widely used method that has sensitivities as low as 0.1-1 % methylation sequences. Because its high sensitivity this method is a useful method for mosaic methylation analyses and detection of ctDNAs. When using this method, it is very important to have short amplicons to get information from fragmented DNA. The working principle of MS-PCR is to distinguish between methylated and unmethylated DNA sequences by making use of sequence differences resulting from bisulfite modification. In MS-PCR analysis, two pairs of primers are used to specifically amplify the methylated and unmethylated DNA sequences, respectively. In MS-PCR studies primers designed for both methylated and unmethylated sequences. After the PCR has been completed, the amplicons analysed by high resolution melting analyses ³⁸.

High resolution melting (HRM) is a post-PCR technique that is widely used in promotor methylation analysis ^{40,41}. Promotor region is amplified with methylation

specific primers in the presence of a saturating fluorescent dye. When this fluorescent dye binds to the double stranded DNA, dye fluoresces. After the MS-PCR in the presence of saturating fluorescent dye, temperature is slowly increased as a result DNA starts to melt. When melting curves analysed methylated and unmethylated DNA sequences gave characteristic shapes. Usually methylated DNA sequence has melting temperature (Tm) higher than the unmethylated DNA sequence. Using control materials specific to interested gene will give exact information about the expected methylated and unmethylated curves and Tm of the amplicons ⁴².

2.5.3 ddPCR

Low level of mutations in ctDNA can be detected by droplet digital PCR, which is a droplet based, microfluidic platform. PCR samples are separated by water oil emulsion and nanolitre-sized droplets are formed. A droplet is totally same as a well in a plate that PCR occurs. PCR occurs in droplets and droplets are read by the microfluidic system to determine positive and negative droplets. Afterwards, data are analysed using microfluidic droplet reader ⁴³. Workflow of the ddPCR is given in the Figure 7.

dPCR enable to make detection of rare variants in the presence of intense wild type sequence concentration. In terms of diagnosis and staging of the cancer, detection and quantification of the rare variants are very important. By performing the PCR in the generated nanoliter volume droplet, it is possible to detect the rare variant in the droplet independently of the signal generated by the wild type DNA sequence. Studies have shown that variants as low as 1 per 100000 can be measured ⁴⁴.



3. MATERIAL and METHODS

3.1 Selection of Patients and Definition

A total of 65 blood samples from prostate cancer patients and 76 blood samples from control groups were collected in the Urology Department of Yeditepe University Hospitals, in Istanbul, Turkey. Before sample collection, written informed consent was obtained from all patients and controls. The study was approved by the local ethics committee of Yeditepe University. 5 mL blood samples were obtained from patients in tubes containing EDTA and blood specimens were stored at +4°C before plasma separation.

- 3.2 Materials and Devices
- 3.2.1 Consumables

Commercial kits and other consumables are given in Table 3.

Table 3. Commercial kits and other consumables

Consumable/Kit Name	Catalog No	Brand
iPrep TM PureLink TM gDNA Blood Kit	IS10005	ThermoFisher Scientific
Human Methylated & Non-methylated DNA Set	D5014-2	Zymo Research
Bisulfite-Converted Universal Methylated Human DNA Standard	D5015	Zymo Research
EZ DNA Methylation- Lightning Kit	D5030	Zymo Research
Light Cycler 480 High Resolution Melting Master	4909631001	Roche
QX200 TM ddPCR TM EvaGreen Supermix	1864034	BioRad
ddPCR 96 well PCR plate	12001925	BioRad
DG8 TM Cartridges and Gaskets	1864007	BioRad
Droplet reader oil	1863004	BioRad
Eva Green Droplet Generation Oil	1864006	BioRad

3.2.2 Equipment list

Equipment list is given in Table 4.

Table 4. List of equipment and software

Equipment/Software Name	Brand	
iPrep PureLink	ThermoFisher Scientific	
Thermal Cycler, Veriti	ThermoFisher Scientific	
C1000 Touch Thermal Cycler	BioRad - ddPCR System	
QX Droplet Generator	BioRad - ddPCR System	
QX Droplet Reader	BioRad - ddPCR System	
PX1 PCR Plate Sealer	BioRad - ddPCR System	
Real Time PCR system	Roche LC480 II Real Time PCR System	
HRM Analysis Software	Light Cycler 480 Software release 1.5.0	
QuantaSoft, ddPCR software	BioRad	
Nanodrop 2000 Spectrophotometer	ThermoFisher Scientific	
Laminar Air Flow Cabinets	Holten	
Micropipettes (10 µL, 20 µL, 100 µl, 200 µL, 1000 µL)	Gilson	
Gel Documentation System	Vilber Lourmat	
Vortex	VWR	
Quick Spin	Heathrow Scientific	
Freezers	Liebherr, Siemens	
Power Supply	BioRad	
Electrophoresis	BioRad	
Eppendorf Tubes	VWR	
Centrifuge	Sigma / Beckman Coulter	

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 DNA isolation from blood

The venous blood samples taken from the patients and control groups to 5 cc EDTA tubes and stored in the refrigerator until DNA isolation. DNA isolation of the samples was performed using the iPrep Purification Instrument (Thermofisher) and iPrep blood genomic DNA isolation kit (iPrep gDNA Blood kit). The iPrep Purification Instrument is capable of purifying up to 13 samples in a single run and an automated nucleic acid purification instrument which uses ChargeSwitch® technology (CST). ChargeSwitch Technology works based on an ionisable ligand which can change the load according to the pH of the surrounding medium. At low pH levels CST beads are positively charged to bind to the negatively charged nucleic acid backbone. Since other contaminants present in the environment cannot be connected to positively charged CSF beads, they are removed in the wash step together with the wash buffer. To separate the

nucleic acids from the CST beads low saline wash buffer (elution buffer) is used. Thus, the DNA is recovered in 150µL elution buffer. All the DNA samples were aliquoted and maintained in -20°C deep freezer till subsequent analysis.

3.3.2 Measurement of purity and quantity of isolated DNA

Measurement of purity and quantity of the isolated DNA was performed using NanoDrop Instrument (ND2000, Thermofisher). To asses sample purity 260/280 and 260/230 ratios were analysed and expected to get ~1,8 and ~1,8 to 2,2, respectively. To asses sample quantity absorbance at 260nm was used. It is assumed that the absorbance value of $50 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ double stranded DNAs at 260nm wavelength is "1 Optic Density" (OD). Using this basic information, the DNA concentration was calculated by placing the measured value at 260 nm into the formula given below:

dsDNA concentration= $50 \text{ ng}/\mu \text{L} \times \text{OD260} \times \text{Dilution factor}$

3.3.3 Bisulfite modification of the isolated DNA

The bisulfite modification of the isolated DNA was performed using EZ DNA Methylation- Lightning Kit (Zymo Research). The amount of input DNA was calculated using the concentration information obtained from Nanodrop Instrument. Bisulfite modification was performed using 450 ng of DNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. The DNA was eluted in 20 μ L elution buffer and quantified using absorption coefficient of RNA because recovered DNA is A, U and T-rich single stranded DNA. 40 μ g/mL for Ab260=1 was used to determine the concentration of the bisulfite converted DNA. Bisulfite converted DNAs stored at -20°C for later use. Human Methylated & Non-methylated DNA Set from Zymo Research used as bisulfite modification control alongside the clinical samples.

3.3.4 Detection of DNA methylation

Different approaches tested to detect and quantify the DNA methylation of ctDNA:

- MS-HRM analysis were performed to detect methylated tumour DNA using methylation specific primers and bisulfite converted DNA as template.
- Nested PCR was performed using methylation independent primers with the aim of to amplify low copy numbered methylated ctDNA. Bisulfite converted DNA was used as template. Using diluted nested PCR amplicons MS-HRM analysis was performed to detect methylated tumour DNA.

- ddPCR was performed to detect and quantify the methylated tumour DNA using methylation specific primers and bisulfite converted DNA as template.
- ddPCR was performed to detect and quantify the methylated tumour DNA using methylation specific primers and diluted nested PCR amplicons as template.

3.3.4.1 Primer selection and verification

GSTP1 primers used in this study were taken and applied as previously described⁴⁵. The DNA sequences of the GSTP1 gene downloaded from the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) website and given in Table 5. The promoter sequence beyond 1 kb of the Exon 1 region of the relevant gene was determined and highlighted in grey in the sequence in Table 5. CpG island content was checked by web-based software Hahn lab utility (http://canna.cau.ac.kr/util/). CpG islands are given in Figure 1. The information of the methylated and unmethylated, bisulfite converted DNA sequences are also given in Table 5. Methylation independent PCR (MI), methylation specific PCR and unmethylation specific PCR primer information are given in Table 6.

Table 5.	GSTP1	gene info
----------	-------	-----------

Gene Name	Homo sapiens glutathione S-transferase pi 1 (GSTP1), RefSeqGene (LRG 723) on chromosome 11
NCBI Reference Number	NG_012075.1
Selected Region	From 4904 to 5381
Sequence of GSTP1 gene	TTCCCCCCGCGATGTCCCGGCGCGCAGTTCGCTGCGCACACTTCGCTGCGGTCCTCTTCC TGTCTGTTTACTCCCTAGGCCCCCGCTGGGGACCTGCGGAAAGGGGAAAGGCTTCCCCGG
Grey highlighted region is	CTGCGCGGCGACTCCGGGGACTCCAGGGCGCCCTCTGCGGCCGACGCCCGGGGTGCAG
Exon 1	TCAGCACTGGGGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGCCCCTTATAAGGCTCGGAGGCCGGGGGGGG
	GCTGGAGTTTCGCCGCCGCAGTCTTCGCCACCAGTGAGTACGCGCGCG
	CTCCTCGCCCACCTCGAGACCCGGGACGGGGGCCTAGGG
Bisulfite converted	TTTTTTTCGCGATGTTTCGGCGCGCGTTAGTTCGTTGCGTATATTTCGTTGCGGTTTTTTTT
Methylated GSTP1	TFIGFTFATTTFFFAGGTFFCGFFGGGGATTTGGGAAAGAGGGAAAGGFFFFFFCGGFFAC CGCGGCGATTTCGGGGGATTTTAGGGCGTTTTTTTGCGGTCGACGTTCGGGGGTGTAGCGGT
sequence	GGGGTTGGGGTCGGCGGGGGGTTCGCGGGGATTTTTTAGAAGAGCGGTCGGGGGCGTCGTGATT ATTGGGGCCGGAGCGGGGCGGG
sequence	GTTTCGTCGTCGTAGTTTTCGTTATTAGTGAGTACGCGCGGTTCGCGTTTTCGG <u>GGATGGC</u>
	<u>TAGAGTITITAG</u> TATGGGGGTTAATTCGTAGTATTAGGTTCGGGGTTTTCGGTAGGGTTTTCCGAGATTCGGGACGGGGGGTTTAGGG*
Bisulfite converted	TTTTTTTGTGATGTTTTGGTGTGTGTTGTGTGTGTGTGT
Unmethylated GSTP1	TGGTGATTTTGGGGATTTTAGGGTGTTTTTTTGTGGTTGATGTTTGGGGTGTAGTGGTTGT
sequence	GGGTGGAGTGGGGTGGGATTATTTTTATAAGGTTTGGAGGTTGTGAGGTTTTTGTTG
	GTTGTTGTAGTTTTTGTTATTAGTGAGTATGTGTGTGTG
	AGATTTGGGATGGGGGTTTAGGG**

*Underlined primers are for methylation independent PCR. Red highlighted

primers are for methylated sequence

** Green highlighted primers are for unmethylated sequence

Primer ID	Sequence 5'3'	Fragment length, bp
GSTP1-MI F	GGCGGGATTATTTTATAAGGTT	124
GSTP1- MI R	CTAAAAACTCTAAACCCCATCC	
GSTP1-MSP F	GGAGGTCGCGAGGTTTTC	52
GSTP1- MSP R	CTAATAACGAAAACTACGACGACGA	
GSTP1-USP F	GTTTGGAGGTTGTGAGGTTTTT	64
GSTP1- USP R	TGTTGTTGTAGTTTTTGTTATTAGTGAGTATG	

Table 6. Primers Sequences



Figure 8. GSTP1 gene CpG Island Graph

3.3.4.2 Nested PCR

DNA sample isolated from peripheral blood contains unmethylated DNA (belongs to leukocytes gDNA and healthy cells cfDNAs) at high concentration and also contains ctDNA comparatively at low concentration depending on the size of the tumour. For this reason, nested PCR was performed using "GSTP1 methylation independent primers" which covers the region that shows different methylation profiles in control and patient groups. The aim of the nested PCR was to amplify the region that carries different methylation patterns and bring the methylated DNA concentration to a detectable concentration. Nested PCR was performed using Veriti Thermal Cycler Instrument, Thermofisher Scientific. Primers are given in the Table 6, cycling conditions and preparation of Nested PCR reaction mix are given in Table 7 and Table 8, respectively. Nested PCR products diluted to 10⁸ times and stored at -20°C for later use. Bisulfite-Converted Universal Methylated Human DNA Standard from Zymo Research used to optimise the nested PCR protocol and as a positive control for PCR.
Program	Temp (°C)	Duration (sec)
Pre-Incubation	95	600
	No. Of Cycles:30	
	95	30
3-Step Amplification	57	30
	69	30
Final Extension	69	180

Table 7. Cycling conditions for Veriti thermal cycler for nested PCR

Table 8. Preparation of Nested PCR reaction mix

Component	Volume (µL)	Final Conc.
Tris –HCL, pH:8,8 (1M)	1,675	67mM
(NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄ (0,5M)	0,8	16mM
MgCl ₂ (25mM)	6,7	6,7mM
βMercaptoethanol (1M)	0,25	10mM
dNTP's (25mM)	0,8	0,2mM
DNA polymerase (500U)	0,025	0,5U
MI-Primer F (10 µM)	0,5	0,2 μΜ
MI-Primer R (10 µM)	0,5	0,2 μΜ
MgCl2, 25mM	2,4	3mM
Bisulfite converted DNA template	10,45	25-50ng

3.3.4.3 MS-HRM analysis

qPCR and High-Resolution Melting analysis were used to amplify and analyse the bisulfite converted samples and the amplicons obtained using nested PCR. Roche Light Cycler 480 II Real Time PCR System, Light Cycler 480 High Resolution Melting Master and Universal Methylated Human DNA Standard from Zymo Research used for qPCR. Light Cycler 480 Software was used to analyse methylation profiles of the samples. Primers to amplify methylated and unmethylated DNA's are given in Table 6, thermal protocol and HRM protocol are given in Table 9. Information about preparation of LC480 qPCR reaction mix is given in Table 10.

Program	Temp (°C)	Duration (sec)	Acquisition Mode
Pre-Incubation	95	600	None
	No. Of Cycles:45		
	95	10	None
3-Step Amplification	62	15	None
	72	20	Single
	95	60	None
High Resolution	40	60	None
Melting	65	1	None
	95	1	Continuous (25 acquisition per /°C)

Table 9. Cycling conditions for Roche LC480 MS-HRM analysis

Table 10. Preparation of Roche HRM reaction mix

Component	Volume (µL)	Final Conc.
Master Mix, 2x conc.	10	1x conc.
Primer F (10 µM)	1	0,5 μΜ
Primer R (10 µM)	1	0,5 μΜ
MgCl2, 25mM	2,4	3mM
Water	0,6	
cfDNA (concentration adjusted template)	5	
Total Volume	20	

3.3.4.4 ddPCR

QX 200 droplet Generator used to obtain droplets using the 96 well plate which contains EvaGreen master reaction mix and template DNA. PX1 PCR Plate sealer used to seal the 96 well plate and C1000 touch thermal cycler was used to perform thermal cycling using bisulfite converted samples and the amplicons obtained using nested PCR as template. QX200 Droplet Reader and QuantaSoft Software was used for data acquisition and analysing. Thermal protocol and preparation of ddPCR reaction mix are given in Table 11 and Table 12, respectively. Methylation and Unmethylation specific primers given in Table 6 used in ddPCR.

Component	Volume per Reaction, μL	Final Concentration
2x QX200 ddPCR EvaGreen Supermix	10	1x
Forward Primer	1	100nM
Reverse Primer	1	100nM
DNA template	3	Up to 100ng
ddH ₂ O	5	-
Total Volume	20	

Table 11. Preparation of ddPCR EvaGreen reaction mix

Table 12. Cycling conditions for BioRad's C1000 Touch Thermal Cycler

Cycling Step	Temperature, °C	Time	Ramp Rate	Number of Cycles
Enzyme activation	95	5 min	2 °C/sec	1
Denaturation	95	30 sec		40
Annealing/extension	62	1 min		40
Signal stabilisation	4	5 min		1
	90	5 min		1

3.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of this study was performed using licensed SPSS 23.0 and MedCalc software for Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) analysis. Statistical significance was taken as p <0.05.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1 Demographic Data of Working Group

The demographic data of 65 Prostate Cancer Patient Groups and 76 healthy controls participated in our thesis project are summarized in Table 4-1.

Table 13. Demographic characteristics of the study population

Parameter		Prostate	Control (n=76)	p- Value
		Cancer (n=65)		
Age (years),		67.61 ± 7.34	67.53 ±8.77	0.967
Body mass index (kg/m), mean \pm SD		27.01±3.71	27.28 ± 3.55	0.773
Smoking (pack year), mean±SD		30.56±18.68	27.75±17.04	0.594
Prostate-specific antigen (ng/ml)		25.94±41.14	3.03±2.66	0.006*
mean±SD				
Gleason score, mean±SD		7.74±0.88	-	-
Family history of cancer, n (%) [‡]	Yes	31 (43.7%)	9 (11.8%)	-
	No	38 (53.5%)	10 (13.2%)	-
	NA	2 (2.8%)	57 (75%)	-
Pathological T-stage, n (%)	T2a	9 (12.7%)	-	-
	T2b	10 (14.1%)		-
	T2c	29 (40.8%)	-	-
	T3a	11 (15.5%)	-	-
	T3b	10 (14.1%)	-	-
	NA	2 (2.8%)	-	-
Clinical T-stage, n (%)	Early	61 (85.9%)	-	-
	(T1+T2)			
	Late (T3+T4)	8 (11.3%)	-	-
	NA	2 (2.8%)	-	-

N: Number of individuals; NA: not available * statistically significant difference, ‡first degree

In this study 65 patients with prostate cancer who were treated at the Department of Urology, Yeditepe University Hospital and Göztepe Research and Education Hospital. To confirm the prostate cancer diagnosis clinical, laboratory and pathological examinations were used. Gleason score criteria were used to evaluate tumour differentiation. As a result of clinical examinations, clinical T stage was classified as early (T1 and T2) and late stage (T3 and T4). Pathological T-stage was classified as T2a, T2b, T2c, T3a and T3b. Prostate cancer negative patients, a total of 76 agematched controls were selected from the Urology Clinics of the same hospitals. Hospital record were used to collect clinical parameters (body mass index, smoking habit etc) for each participant. Peripheral bloods samples were taken after obtaining informed consent and the study was conducted prospectively. Local Ethical Committee approval was obtained for the study (protocol no: 63/505). The protocol followed was consistent with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects).

4.2 qPCR optimisation

qPCR optimisations were performed using Human Methylated & Nonmethylated DNA Set. qPCR conditions such as annealing temperature, primer specificity and primer and MgCl₂ concentration optimised using LC480 PCR equipment and Light Cycler 480 High Resolution Melting Master.

Figure 9 shows melting curves, melting peaks and melting temperatures of methylated and unmethylated GSTP1 controls after qPCR optimisation.



Figure 9. Melting profiles belong to methylated and unmethylated GSTP1 controls

4.2.1 Optimisation of MgCl₂ concentration

Six different MgCl₂ (1mM, 1.5mM, 2mM, 2.5mM, 3mM, 3.5mM) concentration were tested using methylated and unmethylated control DNAs as template.

Between the tested concentrations, the concentration which has the lowest Cq and the highest end point PCR product was determined and 3mM MgCl₂ concentration was selected to be used in the subsequent experiments. Figure 10, Figure 11, Figure 12 and Figure 13 shows the melting peaks, melting temperatures, amplification curve and Cq values obtained under different MgCl₂ concentrations. It was observed that the melting temperature increased in parallel with the increase in MgCl₂ (Table 14).

In this experiment, it was also checked whether there was nonspecific amplification between methylated DNA and unmethylated primers and between unmethylated DNA and methylated primers. Since nonspecific amplification was not detected, both primer groups were found to be specific to their respective sequences.

MgCl ₂	Melting	Femperature	Cq			
concentration						
	Methylated	Unmethylated	Methylated	Unmethylated		
1mM	-	-	-	-		
1.5 mM	78.67	73.90	-	22.92		
2 mM	79.39	73.99	16.56	8.20		
2.5 mM	79.36	74.73	13.03	7.96		
3 mM	79.73	75.18	11.46	8.04		
3.5 mM	80.01	75.55	10.94	8.19		

Table 14. MgCl₂ optimisation-comparison of Tm and Cq values



Figure 10. MgCl₂ optimisation for methylated GSTP1 assay-melt curves



Figure 11. MgCl₂ optimisation for methylated GSTP1 assay- amplification curve



Figure 12. MgCl2 optimisation for unmethylated GSTP1 assay-melt curve



Figure 13. MgCl₂ optimisation for unmethylated GSTP1 assay- amplification curve

4.2.2 Optimisation of annealing temperature

Three different temperature used to optimise PCR conditions: 57°C, 60°C, 62°C. Cq values obtained under different annealing temperatures are given in Table 15. Smallest Cq values were obtained at annealing temperature 62°C and chosen for the following experiments. There is no significant difference observed between melting curves and melting temperatures under different annealing temperature conditions. Melting curve and melting temperatures, amplification curve and Cq values belong to methylated and unmethylated GSTP1 assays under different annealing temperatures are given in Figure 14, Figure 15, Figure 16, Figure 17, Figure 18and Figure 19.

Annealing	Melting	Temperature	emperature		
Temperature Methylated		Unmethylated	Methylated	Unmethylated	
57°C	79.69	75.10	21.35	20.83	
60°C	79.53	75.23	21.32	20.66	
62°C	79.82	75.19	21.1	20.4	

Table 15. Cq values obtained under different annealing temperatures



Figure 14.Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 57°C



Figure 15. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 57°C



Figure 16. Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 60°C



Figure 17. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 60°C



Figure 18. Melting curve and melting temperatures- annealing temperature 62°C



Figure 19. Amplification curve and Cq values - annealing temperature 62°C

4.2.3 qPCR efficiency

PCR efficiencies for methylated and unmethylated GSTP1 assays were checked using 5-point 1/10 serial dilution of control materials and found as 2.00 and 1.95, respectively. Correlation coefficient ($r^2 > 0,90$) and slope (-3,2 < slope>-3,6) values were determined in the range defined in the MİQE guideline ⁴⁶. Calibration and amplification curves are given in Figure 20 and Figure 21, efficiency, r^2 , slope values are given in Table 16.

Table 16. qPCR efficiency information for GSTP1 assays

Reaction	r^2	slope	efficiency
PCR -methylated	1.987	-3.35	2.00
PCR-unmethylated	1.963	-3.414	1.95



Figure 20. PCR Efficiency of GSTP1 methylated assay



Figure 21. PCR Efficiency of GSTP1 unmethylated assay

Different forward and reverse primer concentrations are used to test robustness of the assays. There was no significant change on the Cq values and melting temperature of the amplicons. A decrease in the melting temperature was observed as the primer concentration decreased. It can be seen at the Figure 1Figure 22.



Figure 22. Primer optimisation-Melting curves and melting temperatures

It was observed that different primer concentrations did not have a significant effect on the Cq value of methylated DNA, whereas the highest Cq value was obtained in forward 1nM, reverse 1 nM in unmethylated DNA. Figure 23 shows the amplification curve and Cq values under different primer concentration.



Figure 23. Primer optimisation-Amplification curves and Cq values

The different primer concentrations were also tested on a representative sample which is prepared mixing the methylated and unmethylated control DNA. When the methylated and unmethylated controls were studied individually, it was observed that they had a melting temperature of about 0.5 degrees higher than the representative mix sample. Also, a PCR bias observed between "unmethylated control" and "unmethylated control in the representative mix". It was observed that change in the melting peak fluorescence values of the unmethylated control and "the unmethylated control contained in the representative sample" did not change proportionally while the melting peak fluorescence value of the methylated control remained constant. Considering that HRM is an endpoint analysis, we can say that peak heights provide information about the amount of amplicon at the end of PCR. This information shows that PCR efficiency is reduced when multiplex reaction conditions and representative sample (sample contains methylated and unmethylated templates) are used for the unmethylated GSTP1

assay, which indicates that assay needs extra optimization. It is possible to optimise the efficiency of unmethylated GSTP1 assay, changing the primer concentration. Figure 24 shows the PCR bias that occurs when the multiplex PCR and representative sample are used. Figure 25 show how PCR bias can be corrected changing the primer concentrations.



Figure 24. PCR bias caused observed in multiplex PCR



Figure 25. PCR bias corrected optimising primer concentration

4.3 MS-HRM analysis using clinical samples

After DNA isolation clinical samples are bisulfite converted. Two different Set of samples prepared for MS-HRM analyses. The first set (Set 1) used for MS-HRM analyses was bisulfite converted clinical samples. The second set (Set 2) consist of nested PCR amplicons which was obtained using bisulfite converted DNAs.

4.3.1 MS-HRM analyses results of Set 1

Set 1 is used as template to detect promotor methylation of clinical samples. GSTP1 methylation was not detected in both control and patient group. All the control group and patient group GSTP1 detected as unmethylated. Melting curves and melting peaks of the GSTP1 methylated control are given in Figure 26.



Figure 26. Melting profiles belong to GSTP1 methylated control.

4.3.2 MS-HRM analyses results of Set 2

Set 2 which consist of bisulfite converted and nested PCR performed samples used to detect GSTP1 methylation and of the 65 samples 9 samples found as GSTP1 methylated. Control group and the rest of the patient group found as GSTP1 unmethylated. Melting curves and melting peaks of the methylated GSTP1 assay using Set 2 as templates and their melting temperatures are given in Figure 27.



Figure 27. Melting profiles belong to Set 2

Figure 28 shows the melting peak and melting temperature difference between a non-specific amplification and GSTP1 methylated control.



Figure 28. Melting profile of non-specific amplification and GSTP1 methylation

4.4 Optimisation of ddPCR

Relatively lower amount of primer is used in ddPCR. Before starting to work with the ddPCR system primer concentration needs to be optimised and the assays efficiencies needs to be checked.

4.4.1 Optimisation of primer concentration for ddPCR

Primer concentration optimisation were performed using 4 different concentration (0.05mM, 0.1mM, 0.2mM, 0.4mM) of methylated GSTP1 assay and methylated control. In ddPCR it is very important to have clear distinction between positive and negative droplets ⁴⁴. In this optimisation experiment we observed best separation for 0.1mM methylated GSTP1 assays. Using this concentration for methylated GSTP1 assay, unmethylated GSTP1 primer concentration optimisation

performed in a multiplex reaction (Figure 30). Figure 29 shows the 1Dimensional (1D) and 2D scatter plots and 1D histogram, belong to the primer optimisation experiment.



Figure 29. Methylated GSTP1 assay primer optimisation

Representative clinical sample prepared using methylated and unmethylated control DNAs and used as a template for multiplex ddPCR primer optimisation experiment. Related 1D and 2D scatter plots and 1D histogram, belong to the multiplex primer optimisation experiment are given in Figure 30



Figure 30. Multiplex ddPCR primer optimisation

4.4.2 ddPCR linearity

ddPCR linearity for unmethylated and methylated GSTP1 assays were checked using 6-point 1/2 serial dilution of unmethylated and methylated controls and linearities were found in the acceptable range ($r^2 > 0,90$) according to the MİQE guideline ⁴⁶. Plots and histograms are given in Figure 31 for unmethylated GSTP1 assay and Figure 33 for methylated GSTP1 assay.



Figure 31. ddPCR efficiency experiment for unmethylated GSTP1 assay

Calibration curves was drawn using the concentration data (final $cp/\mu L$) given in Table 17. and Table 18. Calibration curves and r^2 values of the unmethylated and methylated GSTP1 assays are given in Figure 32 and Figure 34.

Exp047	Analysis												
		Reaction volume	20	μΙ									
		Template volume	3	μΙ									
		Partition volume	0.00083	μ									
		Droplets/reaction	23980.8	(Assuming all 2	0 μL is conver	ted into <mark>drop</mark> l	ets)						
		Template vol/partition	0.00013	μΙ									
		Imp	orted Dat	a			Ŷ	i.	Calculat	ed Data		A	
Well	Run #	Sample	Target	Status	Positive Droplets	Negative Droplets	Accepted Droplets	λ	[Final] c/µL	Copies/ 20µL	[Input] (c/µl)	Dilution factor	c/µl Extract
G01		Unmeth Control M.	EVA1	Manual	3670	10491	14161	0.300	359.7	7194	2398	500	1198937
H01		Unmeth Control M 1/2	EVA1	Manual	2049	12364	14413	0.153	183.9	3677	1226	500	612876
A02		Unmeth Control M. 1/4	EVA1	Manual	1362	15749	17111	0.083	99.5	1989	663	500	331513
B02		Unmeth Control M. 1/8	EVA1	Manual	660	16597	17257	0.039	46.8	935	312	500	155859
C02		Unmeth Control M. 1/16	EVA1	Manual	405	19009	19414	0.021	25.3	506	169	500	84260
D02		Unmeth Control M. 1/32	EVA1	Manual	161	17158	17319	0.009	11.2	224	75	500	37329

Table 17. Linearity of unmethylated GSTP1 assay



Figure 32. Calibration curve and r² of Unmethylated GSTP1 assay



Figure 33. ddPCR efficiency experiment for methylated GSTP1 assay

Table 18. Linearity of methylated GSTP1 assay

Exp047	Analysis												
		Reaction volume	20	μl									
		Template volume	3	μl									
		Partition volume	0.00083	μl									
		Droplets/reaction	23980.8	(Assuming a	ll 20 μL is con	verte <mark>d</mark> into dr	oplets)						
		Template vol/partition	0.00013	μl									
		Imp	orted Dat	a					Calcu	ated Data			
Well	Run #	Sample	Target	Status	Positives	Negatives	Accepte d	λ	[Final] c/μL	Copies/ 20µL	[Input] (c/µl)	Dilution factor	c/µl Extract
C03		Meth Control M.	EVA1	Manual	6272	11260	17532	0.443	530.9	10618	3539	1	3539
D03		Meth Control M 1/2	EVA1	Manual	3726	12930	16656	0.253	303.6	6072	2024	1	2024
E03		Meth Control M. 1/4	EVA1	Manual	2002	15225	17227	0.124	148.1	2963	988	1	988
F03		Meth Control M. 1/8	EVA1	Manual	1009	15429	16438	0.063	76.0	1519	506	1	506
G03		Meth Control M. 1/16	EVA1	Manual	477	15403	15880	0.030	36.6	731	244	1	244
H03		Meth Control M. 1/32	EVA1	Manual	230	15309	15539	0.015	17.9	358	119	1	119



Figure 34. Calibration curve and r² of methylated GSTP1 assay

4.5 ddPCR analyses using clinical samples

The first set (Set 1) used for ddPCR analyses was bisulfite converted clinical samples. The second set (Set 2) consist of nested PCR amplicons which was obtained using bisulfite converted DNAs.

4.5.1 ddPCR analyses of Set1

Set 1 is used as template to detect promotor methylation. In control group GSTP1 methylation was not detected and out of the 10 positives detected in the MS-HRM after

nested PCR, only 2 were detected as positive in ddPCR. Figure 35 shows the plots of the GSTP1 methylated samples. Figure 35



Figure 35. Representative sample for GSTP1 methylated sample from Set1

Exp047	Analysis											
	Reaction volume	20	μΙ									
	Template volume	5	μΙ									
	Partition volume	0,00083	μl									
	Droplets/reaction	23980,8	(Assuming a	II 20 µL is cor	nverted into d	roplets)						
	Template vol/partition	0,00021	μΙ									
	In	nported Da	ata					Calcul	ated Data			
Well	In Run # Sample	nported Da Target	ata Status	Positives	Negatives	Accepted	λ	<mark>Calcu</mark> [Final] c/μL	ated Data Copies/ 20μL	[Input] (c/µl)	Dilution factor	c/µl Extract
Well F01	In Run # Sample	nported Da Target EVA1	status Status Manual	Positives	Negatives	Accepted	λ 0,0003	Calcul [Final] c/µL 0,4	lated Data Copies/ 20μL 7,7	[Input] (c/µl) 1,5	Dilution factor	c/µl Extract 1,5

Table 19. Copy number calculation of samples in Set 1

4.5.2 ddPCR analyses of Set2

Using bisulfite converted-Nested PCR amplicon ddPCR performed and GSTP1 methylation was not detected in control group. 9 samples which were detected as

methylated by MS-HRM were also found as positive in ddPCR. Copy number calculation and values are given in Table 20.



Figure 36. Representative sample for GSTP1 methylated sample from Set2

Exp047	Analysis	3											
		Reaction volume	20	μΙ									
		Template volume	5	μΙ									
		Partition volume	0.00083	μΙ									
		Droplets/reaction	23980.8	(Assuming a	ll 20 µL is con	verted into di	oplets)						
		Template vol/partition	0.00021	μΙ									
5 7		Im	ported Da	ita					(alculated Data			
Well	Run #	Sample	Target	Status	Positives	Negatives	Accepte d	λ	[Final] c/μL	Copies/ 20µL	[Input] (c/µl)	Dilution factor	c/µl Extract of nested PCR
C03		Sample 1	EVA1	Manual	39	13438	13477	0.0029	3.5	69	14	50000	694967
D03		Sample 2	EVA1	Manual	229	12660	12889	0.0179	21.5	430	86	50000	4298997
E03		Sample3	EVA1	Manual	58	14494	14552	0.0040	4.8	96	19	50000	957715
F03		Sample 4	EVA1	Manual	118	13035	13153	0.0090	10.8	216	43	50000	2161108
G03		Sample 5	EVA1	Manual	216	12346	12562	0.0173	20.8	416	83	50000	4159295
H03		Sample 6	EVA1	Manual	252	12658	12910	0.0197	23.6	473	95	50000	4727285
A04		Sample 7	EVA1	Manual	2.00	15826	15828	0.0001	0.152	3.03	0.61	50000	30304
B04		Sample 8	EVA1	Manual	3.00	16186	16189	0.0002	0.222	4.44	0.89	50000	44443
C04		Sample 9	EVA1	Manual	16.00	13919	13935	0.0011	1.378	27.55	5.51	50000	275503

Table 20. Copy number calculation of samples in Set 2

5. DISCUSSION and CONCLUSION

Promotor methylation is a potential biomarker observed in the early stages of tumor formation that can be used for both early diagnosis and follow-up of treatment ¹⁵. In addition, due to being a reversible chemical change, epigenetically silenced drugs can be reactivated using appropriate drugs ³².

There are many promotor methylation studies for many different cancer types. For specific cancer types, different promotor region methylation sites which has high sensitivity and specificity have been identified. CDKN2A gene methylation in lung cancer has been shown to have 100% specificity and 88% analytical sensitivity, GSTP1 gene methylation and 100% specificity and 75% analytical sensitivity in prostate cancer.²¹.

Gene methylation studies are performed on invasive biopsy specimens or noninvasive specimens such as plasma, serum, urine or salivary fluid called fluid biopsy. Since biopsy samples are taken by invasive methods, sampling may not always be possible and biopsy may not give precise information about the tumour because it is not homogenous. For these reasons, liquid biopsies have gained great importance in recent studies ²⁵.

As soon as tumour formation begins, the cells separated from the tumour tissue and the DNAs contained in the hydrolysed tumour cells circulate freely in the body fluids. Body fluids contain not only DNA from tumour tissue (ctDNA), but also DNA (cfDNA) from normal cells. When these DNAs were examined in terms of promoter methylation, it was observed that the promoter regions of related genes on ctDNAs were methylated. ^{2,9}. These DNAs can be obtained by appropriate methods and used in promoter site methylation assays. Based on the knowledge that the amount of ctDNAs circulating in body fluids increases in parallel with the size of the tumour tissue⁴⁷, the amount of ctDNA circulating in the early stages of cancer is very small. ^{9,26}. Therefore, if blood is used as a liquid biopsy sample, leukocytes must be removed from the samples taken within the first half hour to prevent contamination of ctDNAs with leukocyte gDNA. Otherwise, it will not be possible to detect the change in the methylation profile of ctDNA from a sample containing dense leukocyte genomic DNA ⁴⁸. Therefore, the most important step of methylation studies is the sample preparation step. GSTP1 gene is the most commonly used gene in the diagnosis and prognosis of prostate cancer with its high sensitivity and selectivity. ⁴⁹. Carmen Jeronimo et al. reported that GSTP1 promoter methylation may be a good biomarker for the diagnosis of prostate cancer patients and PCR-based methods are molecular methods that can be used to detect these biomarkers ⁵⁰.

Zhang Weijie and colleagues described the GSTP1 gene as an epigenetic biomarker for early diagnosis of prostate cancer ⁴⁷.

In this study, the methylation profile of GSTP1 gene with high selectivity and sensitivity in the diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer was investigated in peripheral blood of prostate cancer patients. Studies indicate that serum DNA concentration is higher than plasma DNA concentration ⁵¹. It is also known that analysis of ctDNAs becomes more difficult if leukocytes are not removed during sample preparation ⁴⁸. In this study, DNA was isolated from whole blood (leukocytes were not removed) to be used in promoter methylation analysis of the GSTP1 gene. The aim is to show whether methylation analysis can be performed when the patient cannot be resampled or using existing samples (contaminated with leukocyte gDNA).

Methylation analysis of the promoter region of DNA isolated from peripheral blood was performed using two different methods. The first method is the MS-HRM method using real-time PCR. When this method was used, GSTP1 methylation could not be detected in any of the patient samples and control group samples. The unmethylated GSTP1 reaction of dense leukocyte gDNA suppressed the methylated GSTP1 reaction and prevented its detection. Digital PCR was used as the second method. By using this method, which divides the prepared reaction mixture into 20000 reactions with approximately nanoliter volume and enables PCR to be carried out in each droplet, 2 of 65 samples could be detected GSTP1 methylated and the concentration of the bisulfite converted samples calculated as 1.5 and 0.8 cp / μ L. In the second method used for the analysis of samples, bisulfite converted samples were amplified by nested PCR using methylation independent primers and then analysed by MS-HRM. When this method was applied, 9 of 65 patient samples were found to be GSTP1 methylated, while methylation was not detected in the control group. The same samples were examined by ddPCR and the concentration of the diluted amplicons calculated. In the light of this calculation, 5 of the patients having concentration around 5 cp / μ L were evaluated as early stage prostate cancer and 4 of them with higher

number of copies around 20 cp / μL were evaluated as more advanced prostate cancer than the first group.

In this study, it has been shown that GSTP1 promoter methylation can be detected even in the presence of leukocyte gDNA by optimized suitable methods.



6. REFERENCES

- Dor, Y. & Cedar, H. Principles of DNA methylation and their implications for biology and medicine. *Lancet* 6736, 1–10 (2018).
- Syedmoradi, L., Esmaeili, F. & Norton, M. L. Analyst CRITICAL REVIEW Towards DNA methylation detection using biosensors. *Analyst* 141, 5922 (2016).
- Wang, J., Yu, J.-T., Tan, M.-S., Jiang, T. & Tan, L. Epigenetic mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease: Implications for pathogenesis and therapy. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 12, 1024–1041 (2013).
- 4. Bradley-Whitman, M. A. & Lovell, M. A. Epigenetic changes in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **134**, 486–495 (2013).
- Delpu, Y., Cordelier, P., Cho, W. C. & Torrisani, J. DNA methylation and cancer diagnosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 15029–15058 (2013).
- Olkhov-Mitsel, E. & Bapat, B. Strategies for discovery and validation of methylated and hydroxymethylated DNA biomarkers. *Cancer Med.* 1, 237–60 (2012).
- Xu, Q. & Xie, W. Epigenome in Early Mammalian Development: Inheritance, Reprogramming and Establishment. *Trends Cell Biol.* 28, 237–253 (2018).
- Hernández, H. G., Tse, M. Y., Pang, S. C., Arboleda, H. & Forero, D. A. Optimizing methodologies for PCR-based DNA methylation analysis. *Biotechniques* 55, (2013).
- Cheuk, I. W. Y., Shin, V. Y. & Kwong, A. Detection of Methylated Circulating DNA as Noninvasive Biomarkers for Breast Cancer Diagnosis. *J. Breast Cancer* 20, 12–19 (2017).
- 10. Cohen, J. D. *et al.* Detection and localization of surgically resectable cancers with a multi- analyte blood test. *Science (80-.).* **3247**, 1–10 (2018).
- Xu, T. *et al.* Cross-Platform Comparison of Four Leading Technologies for Detecting EGFR Mutations in Circulating Tumor DNA from Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma Patient Plasma. *Theranostics* 7, 1437–1446 (2017).
- Wang, J., Han, X. & Sun, Y. DNA methylation signatures in circulating cell-free DNA as biomarkers for the early detection of cancer. *Sci. China Life Sci.* (2017). doi:10.1007/s11427-016-0253-7
- Nikolaev, S., Lemmens, L., Koessler, T., Blouin, J.-L. & Nouspikel, T. Circulating tumoral DNA: Preanalytical validation and quality control in a

diagnostic laboratory. Anal. Biochem. 542, 34-39 (2018).

- Bashir, M. N. Epidemiology of prostate cancer. *Asian Pacific J. Cancer Prev.* 16, 5137–5141 (2015).
- 15. Chiam, K., Ricciardelli, C. & Bianco-Miotto, T. Epigenetic biomarkers in prostate cancer: Current and future uses. *Cancer Lett.* **342**, 248–256 (2014).
- Mikeska, T. & Craig, J. M. DNA methylation biomarkers: Cancer and beyond. *Genes (Basel).* 5, 821–864 (2014).
- Reddy, T. E. *The Functional Genome. Genomic and Precision Medicine* (Elsevier Inc., 2016). doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-800681-8.00002-5
- Dor, Y. & Cedar, H. Principles of DNA methylation and their implications for biology and medicine. *Lancet* 392, 777–786 (2018).
- Moore, L. D., Le, T. & Fan, G. DNA methylation and its basic function. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 38, 23–38 (2013).
- Videtic Paska, A. & Hudler, P. Aberrant methylation patterns in cancer: a clinical view. *Biochem. Medica* 25, 161–76 (2015).
- 21. Laird, P. W. The power and the promise of DNA methylation markers. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **3**, 253–266 (2003).
- 22. Jones, P. A. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **13**, 484–492 (2012).
- Phillips, B. T., Write, P. D., Right, S. & Education, N. The Role of Methylation in Gene Expression. *Nat. Educ.* 1, 116 (2008).
- Crider, K. S., Yang, T. P., Berry, R. J. & Bailey, L. B. Folate and DNA Methylation : A Review of Molecular Mechanisms and the Evidence for Folate ' s Role. *Am. Soc. Nutr.* 3, 21–38 (2012).
- Cree, I. A. Liquid biopsy for cancer patients: Principles and practice. *Pathogenesis* 2, 1–4 (2015).
- 26. Devonshire, A. S. et al. Towards standardisation of cell-free DNA measurement in plasma: controls for extraction efficiency, fragment size bias and quantification.
- 27. Prostate Conditions Education Council. Available at: https://www.prostateconditions.org/.
- Attard, G;Parker, C; Eeles, Ros A;Schöder, F; Tomlins, Scott A; Tannock,
 I;Drake, G Charles; Bono, J. S. de. Prostate cancer. *ESMO Handb. Cancer Sr. Patient* 114–120 (2010). doi:10.3109/9781841847481

- 29. World Cancer Research Fund International. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and prostate cancer. *World cancer Res. fund Int.* 50 (2014).
- 30. Johns, L. E. & Houlston, R. S. A systematic review and meta-analysis of familial prostate cancer risk. *BJU Int.* **91**, 789–94 (2003).
- Neal, D. E. & Donovan, J. L. Prostate cancer: To screen or not to screen. *Lancet* Oncol. 2000 vol 1 pp 17-24 1, 17–24 (2000).
- Henrique, R. & Jerónimo, C. Molecular detection of prostate cancer: A role for GSTP1 hypermethylation. *Eur. Urol.* 46, 660–669 (2004).
- Jerónimo, C. *et al.* A Quantitative Promoter Methylation Profile of Prostate Cancer A Quantitative Promoter Methylation Profile of Prostate Cancer. *Biosystems* 10, 8472–8478 (2004).
- 34. Litovkin, K. *et al.* DNA methylation-guided prediction of clinical failure in highrisk prostate cancer. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–22 (2015).
- Zhang, T. *et al.* The Noninvasive Detection of RARbeta2 Promoter Methylation for the Diagnosis of Prostate Cancer. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 925–930 (2014). doi:10.1007/s12013-014-0285-x
- 36. Lou, W. *et al.* Methylation of the CD44 metastasis suppressor gene in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* **59**, 2329–2331 (1999).
- Fraga, M. F. & Esteller, M. Review DNA Methylation : A Profile of Methods. Biotechniques 33, 632–649 (2002).
- Dobrovic, A. Molecular pathology in cancer research. *Mol. Pathol. Cancer Res.* 261–277 (2016). doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-6643-1
- Clark, S. J., Statham, A., Stirzaker, C., Molloy, P. L. & Frommer, M. DNA methylation: Bisulphite modification and analysis. *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 2353–2364 (2006).
- Stuopelyte, K., Daniunaite, K., Laurinavičiene;, A., Ostapenko, V. & Jarmalaite,
 S. High-resolution melting-based quantitative analysis of rassf1 methylation in
 breast cancer. *Med.* 49, 78–83 (2013).
- Gupta, S. *et al.* Methylation of the BRCA1 promoter in peripheral blood DNA is associated with triple-negative and medullary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 148, 615–622 (2014).
- 42. Roche Applied Science. *High Resolution Melting : Optimization Strategies High Resolution Melting : Optimization Strategies, Technical Note 1.*
- 43. Bio-Rad.

- Huggett, J. F. *et al.* The digital MIQE guidelines: Minimum information for publication of quantitative digital PCR experiments. *Clin. Chem.* 59, 892–902 (2013).
- Litovkin, K. *et al.* Methylation of PITX2, HOXD3, RASSF1 and TDRD1 predicts biochemical recurrence in high-risk prostate cancer. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* 140, 1849–1861 (2014).
- 46. Stephen A. Bustin, 1* Vladimir Benes, 2 Jeremy A. Garson, 3, 4 Jan Hellemans, 5 Jim Huggett, 6 Mikael Kubista, 7, 8 Reinhold Mueller, 9 Tania Nolan, 10 Michael W. Pfaffl, 11 Gregory L. Shipley, 12 Jo Vandesompele, 5 and Carl T. Wittwer13, 14. The MIQE Guidelines: Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments. *Clin. Chem.* 55:4, 611–622 (2009).
- 47. Zhang, W. *et al.* Correlation between the expression of DNMT1, and GSTP1 and APC, and the methylation status of GSTP1 and APC in association with their clinical significance in prostate cancer. *Mol. Med. Rep.* **12**, 141–146 (2015).
- Jung Maria, Kristiansen Glen, D. D. *Ch2, Part V. Methods in Molecular Biology* 3rd editio, (Humana Press, New York, NY, 2018).
- Ahmed, H. Promoter Methylation in Prostate Cancer and its Application for the Early Detection of Prostate Cancer Using Serum and Urine Samples. *Biomark. Cancer* 2010, 17–33 (2010).
- Jerónimo, C. *et al.* Quantitation of GSTP1 methylation in non-neoplastic prostatic tissue and organ-confined prostate adenocarcinoma. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 93, 1747–52 (2001).
- Vlaeminck-Guillem, V. When Prostate Cancer Circulates in the Bloodstream. *Diagnostics* 5, 428–474 (2015).

7. CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal Informations

Name	Sema	Surname	AKYÜREK
Place of Birth	Istanbul	Date of Birth	12.05.1979
Nationality	Turkish	TR ID Number	24059373250
E-mail	tiryakisema@hotmail.com	Phone number	+905077661896

Education

Degree	Department	The name of the Institution Graduated From	Graduation year
Doctorate	Molecular Medicine	Yeditepe University, Institute of Health Sciences	2019
Master	Clinical Microbiology	Istanbul University, Institute of Health Sciences	2005
University	Biology	Istanbul University, Science Faculty	2002
High school	Science and Mathematics	Pertevniyal High School	1998

	Languages	Grades
1	KPDS	72,5

Work Experience (Sort from present to past)

	Position	Institute	Duration (Year - Year)
1	Senior Researcher	TUBITAK UME - Bioanalysis Laboratory	2016-Ongoing
2	Senior Researcher	TUBITAK UME – Reference Materials Laboratory	2013-2016
3	Researcher	TUBITAK UME - Bioanalysis Laboratory	2001-2013
4	Application Specialist on Life Science Product	Bio-Rad Laboratories	2009-2010
5	Project Moderator	TİBO- Diagnostic Innovative Biotechnology Organization	2005-2007

Computer Skills

Program	Level
Microsoft Office Programs	Good

Scientific works

The articles published in the journals indexed by SCI, SSCI, AHCI

Erkan Mozioğlu, Sema Akyürek, Simay Gündüz, Muslum Akgoz, Ahmet C. Gören and Tanıl Kocagöz. Oligomer based real-time detection of microorganisms producing nuclease enzymes. Analyst. 2018, DOI:

10.1039/C8AN02129E

Alexandra S. Whale, Gerwyn M. Jones, Jernej Pavsic, Tanja Dreo, Nicholas Redshaw, Sema Akyürek, Müslüm

Akgöz, Carla Divieto, Maria Paola Sassi, Hua-Jun He, Kenneth D. Cole, Young-Kyung Bae, Sang-Ryoul Park,

Liesbet Deprez, Philippe Corbisier, Sonia Garrigou, Valerie Taly, Raquel Larios, Simon Cowen, Denise M.

O'Sullivan, Claire A. Bushell, Heidi Goenaga-Infante, Carole A. Foy, Alison J. Woolford, Helen Parkes, Jim F.

Huggett, and Alison S. Devonshire. Assessment of Digital PCR as a Primary Reference Measurement Procedure to Support Advances in Precision Medicine. Clin Chem. 2018, 64(9):1296-1307

Pavšič J, Devonshire A, Blejec A, Foy CA, Van Heuverswyn F, Jones GM, Schimmel H, Žel J, Huggett JF,

Redshaw N, Karczmarczyk M, Mozioğlu E, Akyürek S, Akgöz M, Milavec M. Inter-laboratory assessment of

different digital PCR platforms for quantification of human cytomegalovirus. Anal Bioanal Chem, 2017, 409

(10):2601-2614

Devonshire AS, O'Sullivan DM, Honeyborne I, Jones G, Karczmarczyk M, Pavšič J, Gutteridge A, Milavec 4, Mendoza P, Schimmel H, Van Heuverswyn F, Gorton R, Cirillo DM, Borroni E, Harris K, Barnard M, Heydenrych A, Ndusilo N, Wallis CL, Pillay K, Barry T, Reddington K, Richter E, Mozioğlu E, Akyürek S, Yalçınkaya B, Akgoz M, Žel J, Foy CA, McHugh TD, Huggett JF, The use of digital PCR to improve the application of quantitative molecular diagnostic methods for tuberculosis. BMC Infectious Diseases, 2016, 3;16:366 Alison S Devonshire, Rebecca Sanders, Alexandra S Whale, Gavin J Nixon, Simon Cowen, Stephen L R Ellison, Helen Parkes, P Scott Pine, Marc Salit, Jennifer McDaniel, Sarah Munro, Steve Lund, Satoko Matsukura, Yuji Sekiguchi, Mamoru Kawaharasaki, José Mauro Granjeiro, Priscila Falagan-Lotsch, Antonio Marcos Saraiva, Paulo Couto, Inchul Yang, Hyerim Kwon, Sang-Ryoul Park, Tina Demšar, Jana Žel, Andrej Blejec, Mojca Milavec, Lianhua Dong, Ling Zhang, Zhiwei Sui, Jing Wang, Duangkamol Viroonudomphol, Chaiwat Prawettongsopon, Lina Partis, Anna Baoutina, Kerry Emslie, Akiko Takatsu, Sema Akyurek, Muslum Akgoz, Maxim Vonsky, L A Konopelko, Edna Matus Cundapi, Melina Pérez Urquiza, Jim F Huggett, Carole A Foy, An international comparability study on quantification of mRNA gene expression ratios: CCQM-P103.1. Biomolecular Detection and Quantification, 2016, 8:15-28.

P.Corbisier, S.Vincent, H.Schimmel, A-M.Kortekaas, S.Trapmann, M.Burns, C.Bushell, M.Akgoz, S.Akyürek,
L.Dong, B.Fu, L.Zhang, J.Wang, M.Pérez Urquiza, J.L.Bautista, A.Garibay, B.Fuller, A.Baoutina, L.Partis,
K.Emslie, M.Holden, W.Y.Chum, H-H.Kim, N.Phunbua, M.Milavec, J.Zel, M.Vonsky, L.A.Konopelko, T.L.T.Lau,
B.Yang, M.H.K.Hui, A.C.H.Yu, D.Viroonudomphol, C.Prawettongsopon, K.Wiangnon, R.Takabatake, K.Kitta,
M.Kawaharasaki, H.Parkes, Relative quantification of genomic DNA fragments extracted from a biological tissue,
Metrologia, 2012, 49, 8002.

Proceedings presented in international scientific meetings and published in proceedings book.

<u>Sema Akyürek</u>, Denise O'Sullivan, Kathryn A. Harris, Jim F. Huggett. Development of dPCR method for rapid screening of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. 29th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, April 13-16, 2019, Amsterdam, Holland.

<u>Akyurek, S.</u>, Yang, I., Asicioglu, M., Park, S. R., Akgoz, M. DNA Methylation Measurement Optimization for APC Gene. International Biochemistry Congress, 28th National Biochemistry Congress, Ataturk University, September 19-23, 2017, Erzurum, Turkey.

Asicioglu, M., <u>S. Akyurek</u>, M. Akgoz ve N. Ozturk. Circadian Rhythm Disruption Effect on Methylation Profile of BRCA1 Gene. 5th International Congress of Molecular Biology Association of Turkey, Bogazici University, 8-10 September 2017, Istanbul, Turkey.

<u>S. Akyurek</u>, H. Yu, M. Akgoz, S. R. Park, I. Yang, Optimization strategy for DNA methylation measurements. FEBS J, 2016, 283: P-05.02.2-036, doi:10.1111/febs.13806

<u>Sema Akyürek</u>, Erkan Mozioğlu, Burhanettin Yalçinkaya, Müslüm Akgöz, Metrological approach for DNA methylation and personalized medicine. Advances in Predictive & Personalized Medicine, Acıbadem University, Türkiye, Nisan 2015

Burhanettin Yalçınkaya, <u>Sema Akyürek</u>, Erkan Mozioğlu, Müslüm Akgöz, Personalized medicine and biometrology. Advances In Predictive & Personalized Medicine, Acıbadem Univercity, Türkiye, Nisan 2015.

<u>Sema Akyürek</u>, M. Akgöz, Çoklu RNA transkriptlerinin ölçümü karşılaştırması, VIII. Ulusal Ölçümbilim Kongresi, 165-170, TÜBİTAK, Türkiye, Eylül 2013.

T.Kocagoz<u>, S.Tiryaki</u>, T.Silier, C.Guney, TK SYSTEM, the Colorimetric Mycobacterial culture system enables rapid, easy and effective diagnosis of Turberculosis. American Society for Microbiology, General Meeting, May 21-25, 2007, Toronto, Canada.
Others (Projects / Certificates / Rewards)

Novel methods and materials for the detection, traceable monitoring and evaluation of antimicrobial resistance,

EMPIR-SRT-h01 AntiMicroResist, 2016-2019, Researcher

Korea-Turkey collaboration on development of an international standard system for measurement of gene

methylation, TÜBİTAK-NRF, 2016-2018, Project Coordinator

Traceability for biologically relevant molecules and entities, EMRP-SIB54-BioSITrace, 2013-2016, Researcher

Metrology for monitoring infectious diseases, antimicrobial resistance, and harmful micro-organisms, EMRP-

HLT08-INFECT MET, 2012-2015, Researcher

Determination of Mycobacteria species by polymerase chain reaction, TÜBİTAK 1001, 2007-2010, Researcher

Production and certification of hazelnut reference material for trace elements, National Project, 2013-2015, Researcher

International Measurement Comparisons

Relative quantification of genomic DNA fragments extracted from a biological tissue, 2016

An international comparability study on multiple cancer cell biomarker measurement, 2015

Relative quantification of Bt63 in GM Rice matrix sample,2015

Absolute quantification of DNA, 2014

Quantitative analyses of a gene-specific DNA methylation in a genomic DNA matrix, 2013

Relative quantification of Bt63 in GM rice matrix sample, 2013

Measurement of multiple RNA transcripts, 2012

Relative quantification of genomic DNA fragments extracted from a biological tissue, 2010

Guest Researcher Experience

Development of ddPCR Method for Screening Antimicrobial Resistance, LGC (National Metrology Institute of UK), London, United Kingdom, Feb-July 2018

Optimisation of DNA methylation measurements, KRISS (Korea Research Institute of Standards and Science), Deajeon, South Korea, Feb 2017

Optimisation of DNA methylation measurements, KRISS (Korea Research Institute of Standards and Science), Deajeon, South Korea, Feb 2016

Serotyping, phage typing and plasmid profile analyses of Salmonella typhimurium and Salmonella enteritidis strains, BfR (Bundesinstitut für Risikobevertung), Berlin, Germany, Sep-Oct 2004

South Africa & Brazil worked on a project titled "Colorimetric Mycobacterial Culture System" that is supported by the WHO. Within the scope of the project, in Brazil and South Africa two clinical laboratories were visited to

provide training of the lab personnel for "Colorimetric Mycobacterial Culture System-TK system", 14 days, 2006